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Mark R. Thierman, Nev. Bar No. 8285 
mark@thiermanbuck.com 
Joshua D. Buck, Nev. Bar No. 12187 
josh@thiermanbuck.com 
Joshua R. Hendrickson, Nev. Bar No.12225 
joshh@thiermanbuck.com 
THIERMAN BUCK LLP 
7287 Lakeside Drive 
Reno, Nevada 89511 
Tel. (775) 284-1500 
Fax. (775) 703-5027 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF NEVADA 

LEAH KISSICK, 

             Plaintiff, 

 v. 

AMERICAN HOMES 4 RENT, LP and 
DOES 1-50, 

Defendant. 

Case No.:  

1) Interference with Family Medical Leave
Act Rights in Violation of 29 U.S.C §
2601 et seq.

2) Disability Discrimination in Violation of
the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 
U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.;  

3) Disability Discrimination in Violation of
NRS § 613.330;  

4) Age Discrimination in Violation of the
Age Discrimination in Employment Act,
29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq.,

COMES NOW Plaintiff LEAH KISSICK (“Plaintiff”) and alleges the following: 

All allegations in this Complaint are based upon information and belief except for those 

allegations that pertain to the Plaintiff named herein and her counsel. Each allegation in this 

Complaint either has evidentiary support or is likely to have evidentiary support after a reasonable 

opportunity for further investigation and discovery. 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiff Leah Kissick is an individual with a recognized physical disability who

was employed by Defendant American Homes 4 Rent, LP (“Defendant” or “AH4R”) as a sales 

representative in Defendant’s call center until late 2018, when Defendant terminated her 
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employment. Plaintiff brings this action under the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 

U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., NRS § 613.330, NRS § 613.420, the Family and Medical Leave Act 

(“FMLA”) of 1993, 29 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq., and the Age Discrimination in Employment Act 

(“ADEA”), 29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq. seeking redress for Defendant’s improper termination of 

Plaintiff in retaliation for Plaintiff taking leave under the FMLA and on the basis of her disability 

and age. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has original jurisdiction over the federal claims alleged herein. See 28

U.S.C. § 1331 (“The district courts shall have original jurisdiction of all civil actions arising under 

the Constitution, laws, or treaties of the United States.”); see also 29 U.S.C. §794a(2), 29 U.S.C. 

§ 2617(a)(2), and 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(f)(3).

3. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims alleged herein

as arising from the same transaction or occurrence—i.e., disability discrimination against Plaintiff 

in her employment with Defendant. 

4. Because Plaintiff’s claims under the ADA, FMLA and ADEA arise under federal

law, this Court has federal question jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331. In addition, this 

Court has supplemental jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1367 over Plaintiff’s Nevada state law 

claims because those claims derive from a common nucleus of operative fact regarding 

Defendants’ unlawful treatment of Plaintiff in connection with her disability, and form part of the 

same case and controversy. 

5. Federal and state law provide bases for attorney fees and costs in actions under the

ADA, ADEA, FMLA, and NRS § 613.330.  See 29 U.S.C. § 2617(a)(2) (“The court in such an 

action shall, in addition to any judgment awarded to the plaintiff, allow a reasonable attorney’s 

fee, reasonable expert witness fees, and other costs of the action to be paid by the defendant.”); 

see also 29 U.S.C. §794(b); NRS § 613.420. 

6. Venue is proper in this Court because many of the acts complained of herein

occurred in this district, because Plaintiff was employed by Defendant to work in this district, and 

because Defendant actively conducts business in this district.  

Case 2:19-cv-02120   Document 1   Filed 12/10/19   Page 2 of 15



 

- 3 - 
COMPLAINT 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

T
H

IE
R

M
A

N
 B

U
C

K
 L

L
P

 
72

87
 L

ak
es

id
e 

D
ri

ve
 

R
en

o,
 N

V
 8

95
11

 
(7

75
) 

28
4-

15
00

 F
ax

 (
77

5)
 7

03
-5

02
7 

E
m

ai
l i

nf
o@

th
ie

rm
an

bu
ck

.c
om

 w
w

w
.th

ie
rm

an
bu

ck
.c

om
 

7. In or around May 2019, Plaintiff filed a Charge of Discrimination on the basis of 

age, disability, and FMLA retaliation against Defendant with the Equal Employment Opportunity 

Commission (“EEOC”).  

8. On September 11, 2019, the EEOC dismissed Plaintiff’s Charge and provided her 

with a Dismissal and Notice of Right to Sue. A true and correct copy of the Dismissal and Notice 

of Right to Sue is attached as Exhibit A. 

9. Plaintiff exhausted her administrative remedies under the ADA, ADEA, and NRS 

§ 613.330 against Defendant. 

10. Plaintiff files this Complaint against Defendant within ninety days of her receipt 

of the EEOC Notice. 

11. There is no administrative exhaustion requirement for Plaintiff’s FMLA claims 

against Defendant. Id. § 2617(a)(2). 

PARTIES 

12. Plaintiff is a natural person who was employed by Defendant as a Sales 

Representative II in Las Vegas, Nevada from on or about December 12, 2016 to on or about 

November 27, 2018. Throughout her employment, Plaintiff worked remotely from her home in 

Indiana. 

13. Defendant is a foreign corporation incorporated in the state of Delaware with its 

corporate headquarters located at 30601 Agoura Rd, Suite 200, Agoura Hills, CA 91301. During 

the relevant period, Defendant was an “employer” of Plaintiff under the relevant provisions of 

state and federal law. 

14. The identity of DOES 1-50 is unknown at this time and this Complaint will be 

amended at such time when the identities are known to Plaintiff.  Plaintiff is informed and believes 

that each Defendant sued herein as DOE is responsible in some manner for the acts, omissions, 

or representations alleged herein and any reference to “Defendant,” “Defendants,” or “Farmers” 

herein shall mean “Defendants and each of them.” 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

15. Plaintiff began working for Defendant in or around December 12, 2016. 

Case 2:19-cv-02120   Document 1   Filed 12/10/19   Page 3 of 15



 

- 4 - 
COMPLAINT 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

T
H

IE
R

M
A

N
 B

U
C

K
 L

L
P

 
72

87
 L

ak
es

id
e 

D
ri

ve
 

R
en

o,
 N

V
 8

95
11

 
(7

75
) 

28
4-

15
00

 F
ax

 (
77

5)
 7

03
-5

02
7 

E
m

ai
l i

nf
o@

th
ie

rm
an

bu
ck

.c
om

 w
w

w
.th

ie
rm

an
bu

ck
.c

om
 

16. Plaintiff performed her position competently, and Defendant regularly awarded 

Plaintiff performance bonuses in recognition of this fact.  

17. In early 2018, Plaintiff began experiencing a number of health issues later 

identified as effects of a bulging disc. 

18. Plaintiff’s condition substantially limited her performance of major life activities. 

In particular, Plaintiff’s bulging disc caused chronic pain and left her unable to sit for long periods 

of time, both of which limited her ability to perform her job on a full-time basis. 

19. Shortly thereafter, in February 2018, Plaintiff’s doctor recommended that 

Plaintiff’s disability be accommodated through periods of FMLA leave, which would allow her 

to manage her disability and continue working. 

20. In or around February 2019, Plaintiff informed Defendant of her need to take 

occasional time off to accommodate her disability in compliance with her doctor’s proposed 

limitation.  

21. Defendant approved this accommodation and allowed Plaintiff to continue 

working while taking FMLA-approved leave one to two days per week. 

22. From February through her termination in November 2018, Plaintiff took 

approximately one to two days of FMLA-approved leave per week to accommodate her disability. 

23. In or around September 2018, Defendant placed Plaintiff on a Performance 

Improvement Plan (“PIP”), purportedly for underperformance in relation to company standards.  

24. Plaintiff’s PIP identified several areas of performance that purportedly needed 

improvement, including Plaintiff’s average showing rates compared to the company average, 

production rates compared to company average, and other subjective criteria, such as quality 

assurance and suggested changes to tone and approach in completing sales calls. 

25. In reality, Defendant’s decision to place Plaintiff on a PIP was not based on 

performance, but was designed to create a paper trail that could later be used as a pretext to 

terminate Plaintiff for impermissible reasons (specifically, FMLA retaliation, disability 

discrimination, and age discrimination) while maintaining the documented pretext of performance 

deficiencies. 
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26. Plaintiff’s average showing rates and average production rates placed her at or near 

the call center average. Many call center employees had substantially similar or lower average 

showing and production rates than Plaintiff but were not placed on a PIP like Plaintiff. 

27. Likewise, Defendant used vague and subjective factors, like its evaluation that 

Plaintiff should be “more aggressive asking for the business, creating urgency, listening to what 

is of value to the customer and addressing those issues, [and] overcoming objections with value 

to the customer” to justify placing Plaintiff on a pretextual PIP.  

28. Defendant would not have placed Plaintiff on a PIP if she had not been taking 

FMLA leave. 

29. Plaintiff is informed and believes that Defendant’s Human Resources department 

actively targeted employees taking FMLA, disabled employees who were limited in their ability 

to perform work due to their disabilities, older employees, and other employees who belonged to 

protected classes such as older employees, women, and minorities, who complained to Defendant 

that they felt their rights were being violated. 

30. For these employees, Defendant would instruct the employees’ supervisors to 

more closely watch and document the employee for potential performance or disciplinary issues.  

31. By encouraging supervisors to more closely watch and document these groups of 

protected employees, Defendant created paper trails that could later be used as pretexts to 

terminate such employees. 

32. Defendant subjected such employees to higher performance and disciplinary 

standards compared to other employees who did not fall within these groups. 

33. Throughout Plaintiff’s employment, and continuing through today’s date, 

Defendant has consistently terminated a disproportionate number of these employees as compared 

to other employees.  

34. These terminations have in whole or in part been made to purge Defendant’s 

workforce of these protected employees. 

35. Defendant’s disproportionate termination numbers reflect its improper policy and 

practice of targeting such protected employees. 
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36. After placing Plaintiff on a PIP in September 2018, Defendant did not waste time 

in moving to terminate Plaintiff in November 2018.  

37. Defendant’s decision to terminate Plaintiff was discriminatory and retaliatory in 

nature and was motivated in whole or in substantial part by the fact that Plaintiff was taking leave 

under the FMLA to accommodate her disability and by Plaintiff’s age as an older employee more 

likely to experience continuing issues. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

Interference with FMLA Rights in Violation of 29 U.S.C § 2601 et seq. 

38. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by this reference all the paragraphs above in 

this Complaint as though fully set forth herein. 

39. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Defendant was a covered employer under 

the Family and Medical Leave Act (“FMLA”), as it was engaged in an industry affecting 

commerce and it employed fifty or more employees for each working day during each of twenty 

or more calendar workweeks in the current or preceding calendar year. 29 U.S.C. § 2611(4). 

40. Plaintiff was covered under the FMLA as an eligible employee employed by 

Defendant for at least twelve months who had performed at least 1,250 hours of service during 

the previous twelve-month period. Id. § 2611(2). 

41. Under the FMLA, “[i]t shall be unlawful for any employer to interfere with, 

restrain, or deny the exercise of or the attempt to exercise, any right provided under this 

subchapter.” Id. § 2615(a). 

42. The FMLA’s “prohibition against interference” prohibits an employer from 

discriminating or retaliating against an employee . . . for having exercised or attempted to exercise 

FMLA rights. . . .” 29 C.F.R. § 825.220(c). 

43. “[E]mployers cannot use the taking of FMLA leave as a negative factor in 

employment actions, such as hiring, promotions, or disciplinary actions.” Id. 

44. Employers who violate the FMLA “may be liable for compensation and benefits 

lost by reason of the violation, for other actual monetary losses sustained as a direct result of the 
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violation, and for appropriate equitable or other relief, including employment, reinstatement, 

promotion, or any other relief tailored to the harm suffered.” Id. § 825.220(b); 29 U.S.C. § 2617. 

45. The statute of limitations for willful violations of the FMLA is “3 years of the date 

of the last event constituting the alleged violation for which such action is brought.” 29 U.S.C. § 

2617(c)(2). 

46. Defendants retaliated against Plaintiff in violation of the FMLA for taking leave 

to accommodate her disability. 

47. Defendants’ actions were intentional, willful, and in reckless disregard of 

Plaintiff’s rights under the FMLA. 

48. Plaintiff has suffered damages as a result of Defendants’ unlawful actions. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Disability Discrimination in Violation of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq. 

49. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by this reference all the paragraphs above in 

this Complaint as though fully set forth herein. 

50. Under the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), it is unlawful for covered 

employers to “discriminate against a qualified individual on the basis of disability in regard to job 

application procedures, the hiring, advancement, or discharge of employees, employee 

compensation, job training, and other terms, conditions, and privileges of employment.” 42 

U.S.C. § 12112(a); 29 C.F.R. § 1630.4. 

51. Plaintiff was and is an individual with a disability within the meaning of the ADA 

at all times relevant to this lawsuit. 

52. Plaintiff was and is substantially limited in the major life activities of sitting for 

long periods of time, and working on a full time basis, amongst other limitations. 

53. Plaintiff was a qualified individual under the ADA because she could perform her 

essential job functions with or without reasonable accommodation. 42 U.S.C. § 12111(8). 

54. Defendant was a covered employer under the ADA, as it employed more than 

fifteen employees for each working day in each of twenty or more calendar weeks in the current 

or preceding calendar year. Id. § 12111(5). 
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55. Defendant discriminated against Plaintiff on the basis of her disability by 

terminating her employment on the basis of her disability. 

56. Defendant’s actions were intentional, willful, and in reckless disregard of 

Plaintiff’s rights under the ADA. 

57. Plaintiff has suffered damages as a result of Defendant’s unlawful actions. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

Disability Discrimination in Violation of NRS § 613.330 

58. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by this reference all the paragraphs above in 

this Complaint as though fully set forth herein. 

59. It is unlawful under Nevada’s equal employment opportunity laws, NRS 613.310-

613.345 (“EEO Laws”), for an employer to discriminate against an employee based on an 

employee’s disability.  Specifically, “it is an unlawful employment practice for an employer: (a) 

To fail or refuse to hire or to discharge any person, or otherwise to discriminate against any person 

with respect to the person’s compensation, terms, conditions or privileges of employment, 

because of her or her . . . disability . . .; or (b) To limit, segregate or classify an employee in a way 

which would deprive or tend to deprive the employee of employment opportunities or otherwise 

adversely affect her or her status as an employee, because of her or her . . . disability . . . .”  NRS 

613.330. 

60. Plaintiff was an employee of Defendant. 

61. Plaintiff had a disability—a bulging disc, that qualifies as a physical impairment 

and that substantially limited one or more major life activities. 

62. Plaintiff notified Defendant of her impairment and Defendant provided 

accommodation in the form of approved FMLA leave. 

63. Plaintiff was qualified and capable of performing the essential functions of her job 

with the accommodation of certain periods of leave. 

64. Defendant’s reason for terminating Plaintiff was motivated by her disability. 

65. Defendant intentionally, and with malice and oppression, discriminated against 

Plaintiff because of her disability.   
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66. Plaintiff has suffered damages as a result of Defendant’s unlawful actions.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Age Discrimination in Violation of the ADEA, 29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq. 

67. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by this reference all the paragraphs above in

this Complaint as though fully set forth herein. 

68. The ADEA prohibits employment discrimination against persons 40 years of age

or older. 29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq. 

69. Plaintiff is 49 years old.

70. Defendant discriminated against Plaintiff in violation of the ADEA by terminating

her employment based on Plaintiff’s age in combination with her disability and FMLA-approved 

leave. 

71. Defendants’ actions were intentional, willful, and in reckless disregard of

Plaintiff’s rights under the ADEA. 

72. Plaintiff has suffered damages as a result of Defendants’ unlawful actions.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Wherefore Plaintiff prays for relief as follows: 

1. A declaratory judgment that Defendant discriminated against Plaintiff in

violation of Title I of the ADA;

2. A declaratory judgment that Defendant intentionally discriminated against

Plaintiff in violation of the FMLA;

3. A declaratory judgment that Defendant intentionally discriminated against

Plaintiff in violation of the ADEA;

4. A declaratory judgment that Defendant intentionally discriminated against

Plaintiff in violation of Nevada’s EEO Laws.

5. An injunction ordering Defendant to reinstate Plaintiff to her prior position of

employment with Defendant, with such retroactive promotions and benefits as

Plaintiff would have received had she not been terminated;
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6. An injunction ordering Defendant to provide Plaintiff reasonable accommodations

necessary for Plaintiff to perform her essential job functions;

7. An order requiring Defendant to undergo periodic ADA, ADEA and FMLA

training;

8. For lost wages resulting from Defendants’ violations;

9. For liquidated damages;

10. Compensatory and punitive damages;

11. For interest as provided by law at the maximum legal rate;

12. For reasonable attorneys’ fees authorized by statute;

13. For costs of suit incurred herein;

14. For pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, as provided by law, and

15. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

DATED: December 10, 2019 
/s/ Joshua R. Hendrickson 
Joshua R. Hendrickson 
Of Counsel 
Mark R. Thierman 
Joshua D. Buck 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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EXHIBIT A 

EXHIBIT A 

          Dismissal and Notice of Right to Sue. 
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